#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SEP 4 1990

SEP 4 1990

Deputy Start

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

SUPREME COURT CASE NO. 73,545 The Florida Bar Case No. 88-50,375(17E)

v.

RICHARD F. RENDINA,

Respondent.

# INITIAL BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

JACQUELYN P. NEEDELMAN ATTORNEY NO. 262846 BAR COUNSEL THE FLORIDA BAR M-100 RIVERGATE PLAZA 444 BRICKELL AVENUE MIAMI, FLORIDA 33L3L (305) 377-4445

JOHN T. BERRY Attorney No. 217395 Staff Counsel The Florida Bar Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Attorney No. 123390 Executive Director The Florida Bar Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600

#

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A two (2) count complaint and The Florida Bar's First
Request for Admissions was filed on January 11, 1989. On
January 19, 1989, The Honorable Edward N. Moore was appointed
Referee in this cause. On February 21, 1989, Respondent
forwarded his Answer and Affirmative Defenses, Respondent's
First Set of Interrogatories and Respondent's Response to The
Florida Bar's First Request for Admissions. The matter was
scheduled for final hearing on April 11, 1989. Said date was
cancelled. On February 22, 1989, The Florida Bar forwarded its
First Set of Interrogatories and its First Request to Produce.

On March 3, 1989, The Florida Bar forwarded a Reply to Respondent's Affirmative Defenses. The Florida Bar answered Respondent's Interrogatories on March 27, 1989. Respondent answered The Florida Bar's First Set of Interrogatories on March 28, 1989.

A pre-trial conference and hearing on pending motions was held on April 11, 1989. On April 12, 1989, The Florida Bar submitted a Petition for Rule to Show Cause regarding the taking of Christopher Debock's deposition on April 13, 1989. Judge Moore issued an Order to Show Cause regarding same. A hearing was held and Mr. Debock was ordered to appear and testify at his deposition. Certain immunity was given to Mr. Debock for said testimony by the appropriate State Attorney's Office. On April

27, 1989, The Florida Bar served its Second Set of Interrogatories.

A Pre-Trial Order was signed by Judge Moore on June 21, 1989. On June 28, 1989, Bar Counsel provided a change of address. The final hearing was scheduled for July 27 and July 28, 1989. On July 13, 1989, The Florida Bar submitted its Pre-Trial Statement and Respondent submitted his Pre-Trial Statement on July 17, 1989.

The Florida Bar filed its Motion to Compel Discovery on
July 18, 1989, and same was granted by the Referee. On July 31,
1989, the final hearing was scheduled for September 27 and 28,
1989. Respondent answered The Florida Bar's Second Set of
Interrogatories on September 7, 1989. The Florida Bar
submitted its Motion to Compel better answers to Interrogatories
on September 11, 1989 and Respondent submitted his Amended
Pretrial Statement on said date.

The final hearing was rescheduled to be held on October 26 and 27, 1989, and later rescheduled to be held on December 14 and 15, 1989 and then February 8 and 9, 1989. Further, the hearing was then rescheduled for February 12 and 13, 1990. Due to illness of the Honorable Edward N. Moore, Judge Moore's appointment as Referee in this cause was terminated and the Honorable Edward Swanko was appointed Referee on January 29, 1990. The final hearing was rescheduled to be held on March 13, 14 and 15, 1990. The Referee entered an Order on February 20, 1990 stating that no further continuances would be granted. The

final hearing was held on March 13, 14, and 15, 1990.

Prior to trial, Respondent submitted a Motion to Exclude Testimony of a witness. The Florida Bar filed a response to same on March 13, 1990. At the hearing, the Referee granted Respondent's Motion for direct verdict as to Count II. At the conclusion of the final hearing the Referee advised that he was finding the Respondent guilty regarding Count I of the Complaint and that his recommendation of discipline was suspension for a period of two (2) years. Both parties submitted proposed Reports of Referee. On May 25, 1990, a hearing was held on the merits of the Entry of Judgment, wherein the parties presented argument as to the proposed Reports of Referee and the findings of fact. At the May 25, 1990 hearing, The Florida Bar submitted a Memorandum of Law in support of its proposed Report of Referee, a Memorandum as to the Discipline to be Imposed, and an Amended Statement of Costs. At this May 25, 1990 hearing, the Respondent submitted pleadings styled Objection to The Florida Bar's Proposed Findings and Report of Referee, Objection to Imposition of Punishment or Disciplinary Action, and a Motion to Present Evidence in Mitigation. After hearing arguments of counsel, the Referee executed the proposed Report of Referee which had been tendered by The Florida Bar. (See, RR 23). A copy of said Report dated May 25, 1990 is attached hereto as Appendix I.

On June 1, 1990, The Florida Bar submitted its Second
Amended Statement of Costs and on June 18, 1990, Judge Swanko

entered an Order amending the Report of Referee and recommended that the costs to be taxed against the Respondent be in the amount of \$5,014.48. (A copy of said Order is attached hereto as Appendix II). On August 2, 1990, The Florida Bar filed its Petition for Review in this cause and the Respondent filed his Cross-Petition for Review on August 20, 1990.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Florida Bar filed a two (2) count complaint against the Respondent. Count I charged that in his representation of one Thomas Bono, the Defendant in a criminal case, the Respondent unlawfully offered or promised a payment of monies to one Christopher Debock, the Assistant State Attorney handling the matter, in exchange for Bono receiving a lesser criminal sentence in his case. The Respondent had plead guilty in the criminal cause styled, State of Florida vs. Richard Rendina, Case No. 84-6521 CF pursuant to North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25 (1970).

The Referee, in his Report, made the following findings of fact:

#### As to Count I

- 1. Respondent, Richard F. Rendina is, and at all times hereinafter mentioned was, a member of The Florida Bar, subject to the jurisdiction and disciplinary rules of the Supreme Court of Florida.
- 2. Respondent represented one Thomas Bono regarding the criminal cause State of Florida vs. Thomas Bono.
- 3. During the course of Respondent's representation of him, in or about 1984, Thomas Bono asked the Respondent if he could pay off the prosecutor and/or Judge to receive a lesser sentence regarding the criminal charges pending against him.

  (Testimony of Thomas Bono and Richard Rendina).

- 4. Respondent did not disclose as an officer of the Court to the proper officials the fact that his client wanted him to influence the assistant state attorney and/or others.
- 5. Between February 1, 1984 and May 31, 1984, Respondent engaged in discussions with his client, Thomas Bono, that gave the impression that the Respondent was attempting to bribe the assistant state attorney on the case. (See The Florida Bar Exhibits 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29 and testimony of Thomas Bono).
- 6. Christopher Debock, the Assistant State Attorney in the case, gave a sworn statement on May 31, 1984 to agents of the Florida Department of Law Enforcement that he had discussions with the Respondent wherein the Respondent's client would receive a favorable sentence in exchange for payment of monies.

  (See The Florida Bar's Exhibit 2, Pages 5-10, 11, 13-14).
- 7. Respondent entered a plea of guilty to the criminal charge, conspiracy to commit unlawful compensation in Case No. 84,6521 CF, in the Circuit Court, in and for Broward County, Florida, regarding the facts of the Bono/Debock matter. The court adjudicated Respondent guilty of said charge. (The Florida Bar Exhibit 30). Respondent entered his plea pursuant to Alford v. North Carolina. However, Respondent stands convicted of said crime.
- 8. I find that Respondent's conduct stated above in paragraphs 1 through 7 violated Florida Bar Integration Rule, article XI, Rules 11.02(3)(a) [commission of an act contrary to

honesty, justice or good morals] and 11.02(3)(b) [commission of a crime] and Disciplinary Rules 1-102(A)(3) [a lawyer shall not engage in illegal conduct involving moral turpitude], 1-102(A)(4) [a lawyer shall not engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation], 1-102(A)(5) [a lawyer shall not engage in conduct that is prejudicial to the administration of justice], and 1-102(A)(6) [a lawyer shall not engage in any other conduct that adversely reflects on his fitness to practice law] of the Code of Professional Responsibility.

#### Count II

- 9. Respondent represented one Gregory Romano regarding the criminal case, State of Florida vs. Gregory Romano, Case No. 83-732 CF10, in Broward County, Florida.
- 10. The Florida Bar's Complaint alleged that during Respondent's representation of Mr. Romano, Respondent advised his client that he needed \$15,000.00 from him to pay off the prosecutor in the case to get probation for Mr. Romano.
- 11. I granted the Respondent's Motion for directed verdict on Count II.

Christopher Debock was called as a witness at the hearing.

(T. 18-67). On May 31, 1984, Debock gave a sworn statement to agents of the Florida Department of Law Enforcement regarding the Bono incident. (TFB Ex. 2). He testified that he did not have a recollection or memory of the events regarding Respondent's representation of Bono and discussions as to

payments of monies for reduction of the criminal sentence. (T. 41, 50, 59). The Referee declared pursuant to Florida Statute Section 90.804(1)(c) that Debock had suffered a lack of memory of the subject matter of his previous statement. (T. 61). Susan Reich testified at the hearing. (T. 113-121). Mrs. Reich was the court reporter who took and transcribed Mr. Debock's May 31, 1984 statement to the agents of the Florida Department of Law Enforcement. Ms. Reich was shown the transcript of Mr. Debock's May 31, 1984 statement and she testified that same was a true and correct transcription of Mr. Debock's testimony. (T. 114).

The May 31, 1984 Debock statement was then introduced into evidence as The Florida Bar Exhibit 2.

Florida Department of Law Enforcement's agents Michael Brown (T. 69-112), Harry Solowski (T. 217-264) and Rose Marie Pineda (T. 273-311) testified regarding their participation in the investigation concerning the allegations of unauthorized compensation and bribery regarding Respondent's representation of Bono.

Ralph Ray, Chief Assistant State Attorney for the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit for Broward County, Florida, testified (T. 123-139) regarding statements made to him on May 31, 1984 by Debock wherein Debock advised that the Respondent on several occasions had offered Debock some money regarding his handling of the Bono case. (T. 128-129). It was immediately after Mr. Ray's conversation on May 31, 1984 with Debock, that

Debock's sworn statement was taken by the agents of the Florida Department of Law Enforcement.

Marshall King Hall, Deputy State Attorney for the Twentieth Judicial Circuit of Florida testified (T. 140-189). Mr. Hall's office was assigned the executive assignment to handle the investigation/prosecution regarding the Bono/Debock/Rendina matter. (T. 141). Mr. Hall testified that his office considered the Respondent to be more culpable than Debock regarding the Bono incident because: (1) Debock was younger, (2) Debock was less experienced, (3) the Respondent initiated it and, (4) Debock had personal troubles at the time. (T. 165).

Thomas Bono testified. (T. 324-421). Bono acknowledged that he asked the Respondent if it would be possible to pay monies to someone in exchange for a lesser sentence regarding his criminal case. (T. 325-326).

The phone calls and meetings between Bono and the Respondent were electronically recorded pursuant to the consent of Bono and the authorization of The Florida Department of Law Enforcement. (TFB Ex. 3). The taped conversations and the transcripts of same were introduced into evidence. Bono paid Respondent's fee in the amount of \$15,000 in full. (TFB Exs. 31, 32). Bono's testimony and the taped conversation reflect that the Respondent was attempting to extract an additional \$15,000 from the Respondent for payment to the prosecutor on Bono's case. (T. 326-329).

Respondent contended that the additional monies were for

attorney fees. Wayne Spath testified. (T. 666-673). Spath was the bondsman who wrote Bono's bond. (T. 666-667). Spath testified that he was paid the premium fee of \$3,000 for the bond on Bono and that there was no balance due to him. (T. 667, TFB Ex. 40).

The court documents reflecting Respondent's guilty plea to the misdemeanor charge of conspiracy to commit unlawful compensation were introduced as Florida Bar Exhibit 30.

Judge Leonard Fleet testified as a character witness for the Respondent. Judge Fleet acknowledged that an adjudication of guilt pursuant to an <u>Alford</u> plea has the same effect as if the Plea was not pursuant to said case. (T. 663-664).

Respondent presented the testimony of character witnesses, witnesses to whom he had denied his guilt, his defense counsel in the criminal trial, and other persons.

David Damore, Esq., was called as a witness by the Respondent. (T. 592-597). Damore had represented Christopher Debock regarding his appearing as a witness in the matter of State v. Rendina. He testified that in those proceedings Debock had asserted a fifth amendment privilege because he felt any testimony would be inconsistent with a prior statement given to investigators and the Florida Department of Law Enforcement. (T. 593-594).

The Respondent testified and admitted that he had entered into inappropriate discussions with his client, Bono. (T. 635-636, 640, 645, 697-700).

The Referee entered his report finding Respondent guilty of conduct charged in Count I of The Florida Bar's Complaint and recommended that the Respondent be suspended for a period of two (2) years. A directed verdict was entered by the Referee regarding Count II of the complaint.

The Board of Governors's of The Florida Bar directed that
The Florida Bar file a Petition for Review seeking disbarment as
the appropriate discipline in this cause. The Florida Bar's
Petition has been filed and Respondent has filed a CrossPetition for Review.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

THE DISCIPLINE TO BE IMPOSED
IN THIS CAUSE SHOULD BE DISBARMENT
FOR A PERIOD OF FIVE (5) YEARS

Respondent's misconduct goes to the core of our system of justice; engaging in discussions regarding paying funds to a prosecutor for reduction of a criminal sentence.

Besides the testimony of the client, the taped conversations and the transcripts thereof evidence Respondent's active participation in said discussions. Most importantly, the prosecutor gave a sworn statement detailing Respondent's offers of payment to him. (TFB Ex. 2)

Further, Respondent entered a guilty plea to the criminal charge of conspiracy to commit unlawful compensation.

Respondent had the opportunity to explain his version of the case and certainly did so through his testimony.

This court has disbarred attorneys who have engaged in bribery type misconduct. The Florida Bar v. Morales, 366 So.2d 431 (Fla. 1978), The Florida Bar v. Rambo, 530 So.2d 926 (Fla. 1988), The Florida Bar v. McCain, 361 So.2d 700 (Fla. 1978).

Accordingly, disbarment is the appropriate discipline in this cause.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# THE DISCIPLINE TO BE IMPOSED IN THIS CAUSE SHOULD BE DISBARMENT FOR A PERIOD OF FIVE (5) YEARS

The Florida Bar believes that the Referee's disciplinary recommendation was erroneous. This Court has stated that it is not bound by the Referee's recommendations for discipline. The Florida Bar v. Weaver, 356 So.2d 797 (Fla. 1978). Accordingly, this court has imposed greater discipline than recommended by referees when deemed appropriate. The Florida Bar v. Wilson, 425 So.2d 2 (Fla. 1983); The Florida Bar v. Shapiro, 413 So.2d 1184 (Fla. 1982); The Florida Bar v. Lopez, 406 So.2d 1100 (Fla. 1981); and The Florida Bar v. Harris, 400 So.2d 1220 (Fla. 1981).

The Florida Bar submits that Respondent's misconduct was wholly inconsistent with the high professional standards of the legal profession. Disbarment is, therefore, more appropriate than the disciplinary sanction of suspension for a period of two (2) years recommended by the Referee. The criteria established by the court in determining appropriate discipline and the misconduct and criminal conviction of the Respondent fully support the Bar's position.

This court has established three (3) criteria for determining the proper disciplinary sanction to be imposed against attorneys in disciplinary proceedings. This court has mandated that:

{F}irst, the judgment must be fair to society, both in terms of protecting the public from unethical conduct and at the same time not denying the public the services of a qualified lawyer as a result of undue harshness in imposing penalty. Second, the judgment must be fair to the Respondent, being sufficient to punish a breach of ethics and at the same time encourage reformation and rehabilitation. Third, the judgment must be severe enough to deter others who might be prone or tempted to become involved in like violations. The Florida Bar v. Pahules, 233 So.2d 130, 132 (Fla. 1970).

The Board of Governors of The Florida Bar has directed that The Florida Bar seek Respondent's disbarment.

This Court has stated that "....any conduct of a lawyer which brings into scorn and disreputed the administration of justice demands condemnation and the application of appropriate penalties. State v. Calhoon, 102 So.2d 604 (Fla. 1958). Judge Swanko, Referee, found that the Respondent engaged in discussions with his client, Bono, that gave the impression that the Respondent was attempting to bribe the assistant state attorney on the case. (See Report of Referee, Page 2, TFB Exs. 4-12, 20-29, Testimony of Thomas Bono).

The following portions of the indicated transcripts of the taped recordings evidence that Respondent discussed with Bono the giving of improper compensation to influence the sentence to be received by Bono.

- (1) TFB Exhibit 27, transcript of April 27, 1984 telephone conversation between Respondent and Bono.
- (a) On page 3, at lines 12-14, Bono states "what if I increase the size of the bag." Respondent does not dispute that "the bag" exists.

- (2) Exhibit 28, transcript of May 3, 1984 meeting between Respondent and Bono.
- (a) At Page 5, lines 8-12, the Respondent references that the cost of getting probation is "testifying and other general matters." (emphasis supplied). There were no other general matters. (T. 343-344).
- (b) At page 6, lines 7-8, Respondent states, "Now he particularly wouldn't want to give you a deal in the first place if it wasn't for the other incentive." Bono then states, "fifteen is a lot of incentive." Same is not disputed by the Respondent. The fifteen was fifteen thousand dollars. (T. 344).
- (c) At Pages 13-16, the Respondent and Bono clearly were discussing the payment of a larger sum of money, \$100,000.00 to the prosecutor, in exchange for letting all of the other co-defendants and Bono plead to probation. The following is the colloquy: TF = Refers to Thomas Bono

RR = Refers to the Respondent

TB - All right this, this whole case is muddled up. Right?

RR - Oh, somewhat yes . . .

TB - All right. With that in mind can the whole thing be shitcanned? Can, can, can this guy DeBock say, yeah, fuck it, the whole case is all screwed up because we got perjury, we got a drug addict, we got some guy carrying a, a, John was caught carrying a gun or some shit like that. Why can't we, why can't the whole thing be dropped?

RR - It won't.

TB Could it be?

RR - Technically it could be argued. The judge will not do it. The prosecutor will not voluntarily dismiss it. He will argue against it vehemently. If anybody does it, it will be a jury.

TB - Even with more money?

RR - I, I'll be honest with you, I never approached that ...I mean the case is so fucked up with all the defendants.

TB - Wait, see where's that, wait a minute.

RR - Yeah, yeah, well...

TB - If he can do this, and I'm sure these guys can come up with that hundred thousand dollars. If Debock can do this with a hundred thousand dollars then I don't have to testify.

RR - Right.

TB - You know what I mean?

RR - Right.

TB - I can come up with, ah, sixteen, seventeen, whatever it is divided by six to reach ...will you talk to him about that this weekend?

RR - I'll have to do it this weekend.

TB - Are you going to talk to him this weekend?

RR - ...yea I see him every weekend.

TB - Call me back Monday and tell me. You don't have to ...you...

RR - All right let's just say that's a negative. But, ah, let's just say that's assume that's no. You still want to go ahead with the other thing.

TB - Yes.

RR - OK, but you want me to pursue that, because I really never have.

TB - Yes.

RR - That might be a way out for everybody and, ah, if everybody's willing to accept a probation plea.

TB - Of course they will. But then I don't have to testify and worry about my ass.

RR - If they thought you engineered this whole thing they'll thank you for the whole ...really, or me.

TB - Right.

RR - Well let me try it and see.

TB - Try it will ya, cause it really...

RR - (Unintelligible) he might be able to hang his hat on the whole thing. I don't have an ash tray.

TB - That's all right, I won't light it till I get out of here.

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