IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NOV 13 1990

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

SUPREME COURT CASE NO: 73,545 The Florida Bar Case No: 88-50,375 (17E)

vs.

RICHARD F. RENDINA,

Respondent.

ANSWER/CROSS PETITION OF RESPONDENT

FRED HADDAD
One Financial Plaza
Suite #2612
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33394
Phone: 305-467-6767
Bar No: 180891

and

LANCE THIBIDEAU
901 S. Federal Highway
Suite #300
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33316
Phone: 305-463-6755
Bar No: 273899

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

In the present case, Bono testified that he firmly believed that the money was not going to DeBock. (R.385) Agent Brown testified Rendina told Bono that a bribe was never discussed with DeBock. Further, "It was a normal thing for someone to say things that could be taken both ways". (R.241) Pineda testified that the May 31 statement would inculpate Rendina, making him

guilty of something, but exculpate DeBock, making him innocent of the same wrongdoing. (R.306) DeBock admitted, given his condition, "It [(the May 31, 1984 statement)] was certainly subject to being untruthful". (R.40, 41) Finally, DeBock testified that he did not know where the statement could have come from or when he gave it and it was possibly untruthful. (R.63-65)

THE FACTUAL SETTING

"It has been held that the fact of custody alone, with its attendant likelihood of motivation by a desire to curry favor with the authorities, bars a finding that the statement was against interest and requires exclusion". Id at 826.

DeBock testified that the atmosphere on May 30, 1984 was totally coercive. (R.34) He saw his life and career passing before him, he was afraid of going to jail and it was the most devastating event of his life. (R.34) On May 31, DeBock went to Ray's office. Pursuant to Florida Department of Law Enforcement interrogation and a strong desire to curry favor with the authorities, he implicated Rendina in a bribery scheme. The coercion from the previous day and other factors (drugs and alcohol), clearly created a factual setting which was not conducive to a truthful statement.

4. MOTIVE: ACTUAL STATE OF MIND OF DECLARANT

"A reasonable man would not have made the statement unless he believed it to be true. This exception has often been stated as requiring that there has been no motive to falsify. If it appears that declarant had some motive, whether self interest or otherwise, which was likely to lead to misrepresentation of the facts, the statement should be excluded". Id at 827.

In the present case, DeBock had a substantial self interest and motive to falsify the statement on May 31. He testified that

he had taken valium and alcohol the night before and he had not slept. (R.34) DeBock did not remember going to work, coming home, or anything about the day - "It was a total black out". Pole's testimony established DeBock had told him he had taken a great amount of some type of drug, that he stayed awake all night, and "...that the statement, as a whole, was inaccurate and not the truth". (R.589, 590) Bogenshutz said that, on the morning of May 31, DeBock was sitting on the floor of the courtroom with his head against the wall. (R.546) Williams testified that DeBock was very quiet, not cocky, and he did not make eye contact with people. (R.195-197) DeBock's attorney, David Damore, testified unequivocally that any truthful testimony would be inconsistent with the May 31 statement. (R.596) Finally, DeBock's statement at Respondent's trial reveals the truth, which was, that the May 31 statement was not truthful. (R.40, 41)

Florida case law is dispositive on the issue concerning statements against interest under 90.804(2)(c). A excellent discussion of the rule in <u>Brinson v. State</u>, 382 So.2d 322 (Fla. 2DCA 1979) illustrates the above. The court stated that the general rule against admission of hearsay statements is that all out of court statements offered for the truth of the matter asserted are inadmissible. See <u>Collins v. State</u>, 65 So.2d 61 (Fla. 1953); <u>Id</u> at 324. The primary purpose of the exclusion of hearsay testimony is that the opposing party has <u>no</u> opportunity to cross-examine the out of court declarant, and is thereby deprived of the opportunity to expose deceit and errors in the statement. Id at 324; 5 J. Wigmore, Evidence, section 1362.

In the case of LeCroy v. State, 533 So.2d 750 (Fla. 1988), the court held that defendant's brother's out of court statement about when he last saw murder victims was not admissible as admission against interest, despite defendant's claim that his brother admitted that he saw victims after defendant last saw Error, if any, in refusing to admit defendant's victims. brother's out of court statement about when he last saw murder victims, which defendant claimed was admission against interest, was clearly harmless where evidence showed that the brother was also indicted and had a role in crimes or attempting to conceal them. F.S.A. 90.804(2)(c). Id at 751 In LeCroy, appellant argued that the trial court erred in refusing to admit hearsay evidence that Jon (brother) told others that he had seen dead bodies before and was the last to see the victims alive. Appellant argued that the statement was against interest within the meaning of section 90.804(2)(c). The court found the statement not to be against the brother's interest and its exclusion from evidence was not error. See Gillis v. State, 518 So.2d 962 (Fla. 3DCA 1988) The rule is generally that a statement made by a co-defendant during police custodial interrogation, inconsistent with his testimony at trial, cannot be introduced as substantive evidence at a trial of the defendant. See 90.804(2)(c) See Andrade v. State, 15 FLW 1849 (fla. 3DCA July 27, 1989) (The trial court held that codefendant's hearsay statement was not a declaration against penal interest, and was properly excluded); Maugeri v. State, 460 So.2d 975 (Fla. 3DCA 1984)

In the case of Scott v. State, 559 So.2d 272 (Fla. 4DCA 1990), the court held that statements of deputies contained in the audio portion of a videotape played to the jury should have been excluded as inadmissible hearsay, as irrelevant, and posing a substantial danger of unfair prejudice to defendant. See Error in admission of this and other evidence was not harmless. Id at 270. In the case at bar, DeBock's May 31 hearsay statement was inadmissible because he was not unavailable as a witness. On the contrary, he testified as to the facts of what occurred, and what did not occur. Second, DeBock's statement given to Florida Department of Law Enforcement on May 31, 1984 was not a "true" statement against interest. admitted the statement was not truthful, and it is clear from other evidence, that he had substantial self-interest and reason to curry favor with the authorities. His state of mind and condition was drug influenced, and his own testimony revealed that May 31 was "a total black out" to him. Therefore, Respondent had no opportunity to cross examine the unreliable statement of the declarant, and its effect as substantive evidence was clearly prejudicial, in violation of Rules 403, 802, and 804 of the Florida Evidence Code and due process of law.

Further, it should be noted that DeBock's May 31 statement could not be introduced as impeachment evidence as a prior inconsistent statement. The fact that DeBock did not recall or remember the statement was not a sufficient predicate to declare DeBock an adverse witness. Parnell v. State, 500 So.2d 558 (Fla. 4DCA 1987); Smith v. State, 14 FLW 1841 (Fla. 5DCA 1989). Further, the statement was not admissible as substantive evidence

as a statement to police pursuant to interrogation. In <u>Delgado</u>

<u>Santos v. State</u>, 497 So.2d 1199 (Fla. 1986) The court held that police interrogation was not former testimony in "other proceedings under the Code and Section 90.801(2)(a) did not apply.

B. RALPH RAY'S TESTIMONY WAS PREJUDICIAL HEARSAY

Counsel for The Florida Bar elicited inadmissible hearsay testimony from witness Ralph Ray in an attempt to prove that Respondent committed the crimes of conspiracy to receive or pay unlawful compensation and bribery, as charged in paragraph seven (7) of the Complaint. In her opening statement, the prosecutor commented that the offense will be proved by clear and convincing evidence. (R.10-12) Respondent maintains that the admission of Ray's hearsay testimony concerning information received from DeBock, specifically, "Rendina offered to DeBock on several occasions, some money with regard to the handling of the case for Rendina, either for him or his client, Thomas Bono", was entirely prejudicial. (R.129) This testimony was objected to. (R.127, 272) Therefore, the Bar's attempt to prove its case of bribery, predicated solely on hearsay testimony, fails to meet the required burden of proof by clear and convincing evidence.

In the case of <u>Baird v. State</u>, 553 So.2d 187 (Fla. 1DCA 1989), the Court held that it was not harmless error to admit a police officer's testimony that he had received information that Defendant operated a major gambling operation. <u>Id</u> at 187. In <u>Baird</u>, Defendant objected to evidence and his Motion for Mistrial was denied after Officer Griffith testified that, "I had received information that Baird was a major gambler and operating a major

gambling operation in the Pensacola area." The Officer testified about the gambling investigation, his involvement in telephone wiretaps, and the above statement in response to State inquiry. Id at 188. The Court concluded that the testimony was obviously hearsay, that it was improperly admitted, and the State failed to carry the burden of showing that the error was harmless. Id at See, Scott v. State, supra at 273 (statements of police officers were hearsay and caused substantial danger of unfair prejudice); Pulliam v. State, 446 So.2d 1172 (Fla. 2DCA 1984) (comments elicited by prosecutor concerning ongoing drug investigation conducted by State were irrelevant and prejudicial to defendant and constituted reversible error where they implied that defendant was involved in collateral investigation); Black v. State, 540 So.2d 498 (Fla. 4 DCA 1989) (police officer testimony which improperly characterized defendant's activities constituted reversible error).

C. AGENT PINEDA'S COMMENTS AS TO RESPONDENT'S STATE OF MIND AND CHARACTERIZATION OF ACTIONS WAS IMPROPER OPINION TESTIMONY AND IMPEACHMENT OF CHARACTER

The prosecutor elicited inadmissible opinion testimony from Agent Pineda. These comments were prejudicial and it improperly impeached Respondent's character. (R.303-305) The record establishes:

Q. (Prosecutor): Did you have an opinion from listening to the tapes as to what was occurring on the tapes?

Respondent's counsel: Objection, soliciting opinion testimony.

Court: Overruled.

A. Yes.

- O. And what was that?
- A. That Mr. Rendina was soliciting money from Bono.
- Q. To pay to DeBock?
- A. Yes, to pay to DeBock.
- Q. And your opinion is based on the totality of all the tapes?
- A. Yes.
- Q. There were certain times on the tapes that Mr. Rendina made some statements to the effect that, "It's my attorney's fees". Did you think he was really talking about attorney fees?
- A. No, I do not think he was. I think he was being cautious. I do not think he was talking about attorney fees.
- Q. The last tape regarding the meeting in DeBock's office, you were asked questions that would be fair to say that DeBock sounded surprised. Did he also sound scared to you?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Do you have an opinion whether or not Rendina sounded scared on the tape?
- A. It was my opinion that he sounded irritated.

(R. 302-304)

Case law clearly established this testimony was error. In Spradely v. State, 442 So.2d 1039 (Fla. 2DCA 1983), the court said that a witness cannot offer an opinion as to the guilt or innocence of an accused person. Id at 1043; See, Farley v. State, 324 So.2d 662 (Fla. 4DCA 1975); Hodge v. State, 7 So. 593 (Fla. 1890) (In trial for murder, the testimony of a witness as to his conclusions from, and understanding of, the conduct and intentions of defendant, is properly excluded.) The most recent case, Gianfrancisco v. State, 15 FLW 2450 (Fla. 4DCA Oct. 12,

1990), establishes that it was error for the police officer to testify to witness' and Defendant's relative culpability. The court said, "Police officers, by virtue of their positions, rightfully bring with their testimony an air of authority and legitimacy". Id at 2450.

Florida Evidence Code Section 90.701 provides:

- "If a witness is not testifying as an expert, his testimony about what he perceived may be in the form of inference and opinion when:
- (1) The witness cannot readily, and with equal accuracy and adequacy, communicate what he has perceived to the trier of fact without testifying in terms of inference or opinions and his use of inferences or opinions will not mislead the trier of fact to the prejudice of the objecting party.
- (2) The opinions and inferences do not require a special knowledge, skill, experience or training".

In the case of <u>Knight v. State</u>, 512 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1987) the court examined lay opinion testimony under Section 701 and found that it was not admissible. Knight failed to establish that witness McGoogin could <u>not</u> have otherwise communicated his perceptions concerning Hutto to the jury. To the contrary, McGoogin adequately explained to the jury that Hutto "...placed his hand on Knight's hand and started pressing the knife against me". In this case, McGoogins perception of the incident was adequately conveyed to the jury, thus, equipping it with information necessary to draw the inference urged by the defense. There was, therefore, <u>no</u> need to resort to testimony concerning McGoogin's interpretation of the situation. Id at 929.

In the case at bar, Agent Pineda adequately communicated her perceptions and police actions to the referee. There was <u>no</u> need to resort to testimony concerning her <u>interpretation</u> of the

situation. Her opinion was improper comment on Respondent's guilt and state of mind. Further, this testimony improperly impeached Respondent's character. In the case of Lockett v. State, 527 So.2d 959 (Fla. 4DCA 1988) the court held that the officer's testimony that defendant's home was a haven for drug sales, a "rock house", or that her back bedroom was used for drug sales, constituted improper impeachment of character and was extremely prejudicial. Id at 960. See, Pulliam v. State, supra at 1173. Treefore, Pireda's testimony wes hamful error.

D. THE ERRORS IN ADMISSION OF EVIDENCE WERE INDEPENDENTLY AND CUMULATIVELY HARMFUL

Respondent maintains that the above errors were independently and cumulatively harmful. The improper admission of evidence and the prosecutor's reference in closing argument (R.712, 719-23) had a devastating effect upon the fundamental reliability of the proceeding and the Bar's burden of proof of Respondent's guilt was not demonstrated by clear and convincing competent evidence. See, State v. DiGuilo, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

The inadmissibility of hearsay evidence and the right to confrontation is not a mere technical rule of evidence. The Supreme Court in other states has so found. In Cowan v. Bunting Gilder Co., 49 A.2d 270 (Penn. 1946), the court said the privilege of confronting witnesses, of cross examining them, of refuting them and of having a record of their testimony, is not a "mere technical rule" within statute which exempts workmen's compensation proceedings from adherence to technical Rules of Evidence, but it is a fundamental right. In Englebretson v. Industrial Accident Commission, 151 Pac. Rptr. 421 (Cal. 1915),

the court held that, though Workmen's Compensation Law authorizes the commission to disregard "technical rules" of evidence, an award cannot be made on hearsay testimony; the rule against hearsay not being a technical rule.

In the <u>Kirkland v. State</u>, 185 So.2d 5 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1966), the court said:

"It is probable that any one of the above errors may not, in and of itself, constitute reversible error, but when considered as a whole, we are satisfied that the ends of justice require a new trial". Id at 7, citing Varnum v. State, 188 So. 346 (Fla. 1939)

In Varnum the court concluded that:

"When considering each of the above assignments severally and apart, we may safely conclude that any one thereof would not justify a reversal of the judgment appealed from. But when reviewing all the assignments as a unit in light of the entire record as one single reason for a reversal, the conclusion is irresistible that the plaintiff in error failed to receive such a trial as is contemplated by Section 4 of the Declaration of Rights of the Constitution of Florida. We cannot say that justice and right prevailed in the lower court, but think that the issues here involved should be passed upon by another jury. Id at 351.

Respondent maintains that, in the event fundamental error did not occur through the independent admission of evidence, the cumulative effect of these improprieties denied Respondent a fair and impartial trial.

RESTRICTING ARGUMENT ON MATTERS OF MITIGATION OF PUNISHMENT OR DISCIPLINE

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